IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.83-013

District Court of Appeal Third District-Case No.93-2146

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Frederick E. Melvin, was the appellant in the District Court of appeal, and the defendant in the trial court. Respondent the state of Florida, was the appellee in the District Court of appeal, and the prosecution in the trial court. This brief refers the parties as the state and the petitioner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Frederick E. Melvin, is detained pursuant to a judgement and sentence imposed by the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida. On January 22, 1990. Petitioner was arrested by the Florida City, police, and taken to the Florida City, police Department and some hours later

transported to Metro Dade police Headquarters where he was charged inth Case No. 90-3133, with (I) count of second degree murder; (I) count of carrying a concealed firearm; (I) count of possession of a weapon while committing a felony. Then after being charged petitioner was transported to Dade County jail.

At the arraingment held on February 12, 1990. The State filed an information charging petitioner with (I) count of second degree murder with a firearm; count (II) unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. The Circuit Court appointed Mr. Henri Rauch, a Public Defender to represent petitioner in Case No. 90-3133; at the arraingment petitioner pleased not guilty.

On March 23, 1990. Petitioner, went back to court and once in the courtroom petitioner was advised by the court and Mr. Robert S. Singer, that the court had appointed Mr. Singer, to represent petitioner in Case No. 90-3133; at which time petitioner asked Mr. Singer, what happen to Mr. Rauch, and Mr. Singer, respondent to petitioner with well Mr. Rauch, withdraw from the case because of some kind of conflict in the case, not knowing what the conflict was but, once petitioner was called by the court to the stand, the court advised petitioner and his court appointed counsel Mr. Singer, that the State was refiling an information charging petitioner with the following crimes: (I) count of attempted first degree murder with a firearm; and count (II) unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense in Case No. 89-46022.

On June 14, 1990, the State negotiated a plea bargin with petitioner based on the advice of petitioner court appointed counsel Mr. Singer. The State agreed to sentence petitioner to a term of thirty (30) years with a three year minimum mandatory for (I) count of second degree murder with

a firearm; and count (II) unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense in Case No. 90-3133, and (I) count of attempted first degree murder; and count (II) unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense in Case No. 89-46022. Both cases 89-46022 and 90-3133 to run concurrent with eachother for an exchange for a no contest plea.

Petitioner did not take a direct appeal, but after various researching into petitioner's files and records regarding petitioner's case, petitioner discovered that his plea of no contest was entered involuntarily and without a full understanding of the consequences. Petitioner discovered as well that he was charged with two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offnese, which is in violation of the double jeopardy clause of the United States and State Constitution.

Petitioner also discovered that his court appointed counsel Mr. Singer, was Ineffective because he allowed petitioner to plea to two counts of possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense, when these charges are a violation of the double jeopardy clause and petitioner counsel has a duty to properly inform petitioner about all charges and law.

On April 2, 1993, petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant to section 9.030, Fla. Rules. of App.P.; Article V. section 3;4;5;

(B) Fla. State Constution. To the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida. On July 22, 1993, said court denied petitioner's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, treating it as a 3.850 motion.

On August 9th, 1993, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal to the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida. On October 26, 1993, the District Court of Appeals Third District of Florida; PER CURIAM. Affirmed Petitioner's Notice of appeal on the authority of Novaton -V- State, 610 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), review granted, Case No. 81-183 (Fla. July 14, 1993).

On October 29th, 1993, Petitioner filed a motion for certification to the Third District Court of Appeals, pursuant to Rule 9.330, Fla. Rules. of App. P. Moving the court for certification of a question of great public importance:

"Does a Defendant, who "knowingly entered into a plea agreement, thereby waive an otherwise viable double jeopardy claim?

And on December 14, 1993, the Third District Court of Appeal certified petitioner's motion for certification to the Supreme Court of Florida.

On January 3, 1994, Petitioner filed a Notice to invoke discretionary

Jurisdiction to the District court of appeal Third District of Florida, pursuant
to Rule 9.120 App. Procedure. On January 20, 1994, Petitioner received a order
from the Supreme Court of Florida, postponing the decision on Jurisdiction and
briefing schedule, filed January 18, 1994, advicing petitioner to file his
brief on the merits on or before February 14, 1994. Petitioner brief on the
merits are as follows:

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER A PLEA OF GUILTY WAIVES THE DOUBLE JEOPARD VIOLATION OF IMPOSING MULTIPLE PUNISHMENTS FOR THE SAME OFFENSE, WHERE THE VIOLATION IS APPARENT ON THE FACE OF THE RECORD.

DOES A DEFENDANT WHO KNOWINGLY ENTERED INTO A PLEA AGREE-MENT, THEREBY WAIVE AN OTHERWISE VIABLE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAIM?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial Gourt, nither the defense Counsel, nor the State Attorney, advised petitioner of the maximum possible sentence taht he could be sentence to for each offense, nor did they inform him of the elements of the crimes which he was charged, whather the State had reasonable proof to obtain a conviction based on those elements at trial. By not doing these two things petitioner plea was not voluntary. See Exhibi "C".

The United States Supreme Court recognized plea bargaining as an essential component of the criminal justice system. When the government and a defendant agree to negotiate a plea, both parties must comply with Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. Rule 11 (e).

In the State of Florida, before the court may accept a plea of guilty or nolo contedere, the trial judge must comply with Florida Criminal Procedure Rule 3.172 and the indicated subsection (c); 3.180 (c). (c)(i); (c)(iv); (c)(vii).

The three-core concerns underlying Rule 11, Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure, governing acceptance of guilty or nolo contendere plea, applicable to all States through the Fourteeth Amendment to the United States Constitution. As outlined by the State of Florida. (1) The plea must be voluntary; (2) The defedent must understand the nature of the charge and the consequences of his plea; and (3) There must be a factual basis for the plea. No plea of guilty or nolo contendere shall be accepted without first determining, in open court, with means or recording the proceedings stenographically or by mechanical means, that the circumstances surrounding the plea reflect a full understanding of the significance of the plea and its voluntariness, and that there is a factual basis for the plea, guilty or nolo contendere, Fla. Rules Crim. Proc. 3.170(j) 3.172(e)(f).

The trial judge must advise defendant of the maximum possible penalty for the crime; otherwise, the plea is void. West's F.S.A. Rules of Crim. Proc., Rule 3.172 (c)(i). The trial judge must advise defendant of the possible maximum mandatory penalty, if applicable, in order that a guilty or nolo contedere plea may be intelligently and voluntarily entered. The trial judge must advise defendant that without the expressed reseration of the right to appeal matters relating to the judgement. West's Rules of Crim. Proc. Rule 3.172(c)(vii); West's F.S.A. Sec. 924.06(3). Failure to so advise prohibits defendant from rendering a truly voluntarily and knowledgeable waiver of his constitution rights inherented in plea agreement.

No plea offer or negotiation is binding until it is accepted by the trial judge, formally, after making all necessary inquiries, advisements and determinations required by law. Until that time, it may be withdrawn by either party without any necessary justification. West F.S.A. Rules of Crim. Proc. Rule 3.172(f).

The court failure to address any one of these three core concerns shall constitute an automatic reversal, Federal Rules of Crim. Proc. Rule 11, 18 U.S.C.A., U.S. v. Bell, 776 F.2d 965, rehearing, denied 782 F.2d 180. Cert. denied 106 S.Ct. 3272, 477 U.S. 904 (11th Cir.).

In the case at bar the trial court, defense counsel, and the state attorney failed to advise petitioner of the maximum possible sentence that he could be sentenced to for each offense. Accordingly, petitioner plea should be withdrawn.

II.

The trial court erred in entering convictions for both second degree murder with a firearm and unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense, when both charges are in violation of the double jeopardy clause of the United States and State's Constitution. The trial court also erred in entering convictions for both attempted first degree murder with a firearm and unlawful

possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense, which is also in violation of the United State and State's Constitutution. See exhibit "A" and "B".

it is a violation of the double jeopardy clause of the United States Constitution and Florida State Constitution to charge petitioner with the two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in criminal offense, and both of these charges must be vacated in light of law and facts of these cases. See Cleveland v. State, 587 So.2d 1145, and Standley v. State, 560 So.2d 1269.

III.

Petitioner court appointed counsel was ineffective because he allowed petitioner to plea no contest to two counts of possession of afirearm while engaged in a criminal offense, when these charges are a violation of the double jeopardy clause and counsel has a duty to properly inform petitioner of all charges and law.

Counsel allowed petitioner to plea no contest without first telling him the maximum sentence he could receive for each charge, and also counsel failed to inform petitioner of all the elements that the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt as to each charge.

Counsel failed to file a motion to dismiss the two counts of possession of a firearm while engaged in criminal offense, when both of these charges are a violation of petitioner Federal and State constitutional rights, these charges violate the double jeopardy clause of the State and Federal Constitution.

Effectiveness of counsel is not tested merely by counsel's performance in the court room but must be also measured by attorney's familiarity of facts and law of case.

In the case at bar, reasonably effectiveness assistance of counsel claims require a two-prong showing. Under the first part of the Strickland v. Washington,

466 U.S. (1984) test "the performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonably considering all the circumstances." 466 U.S. at 688. Therefore, petitioner has shown (4) prongs in light of counsel's unprofessional conduct and petitioner's plea should be withdrawn.

(IV)

A plea of guilty does not waive constitutional claims, such as claims of double jeopardy, which affect the court's power to adjudicate and sentence. What the plea waives is the defendant's right to present supplemental evidence to demonstrate the claim. When a double jeopardy violation is apparent on the face of the record existing at the time of the plea, it is not waived by the entry of the plea, and may be challenged on appeal. Such patent double jeopardy violations, if waiveable at all, must be affirmatively waived. This case involves a patent violtion of the guarantee against multiple punishments for the same offense imposed in a single proceeding by its very nature, that aspect of the double jeopardy guarantee is not susceptible to waiver. The power to prescribe penalties for crimes depends entirely on legislative authorization, and where that authorization is absent, it cannot be conferred by the parties. In this context, the purpose of the double jeopardy clause is to ensure that sentencing court's do not exceed, by the device of multiple punishments, the limits prescribed by the legislative branch of government, in which lies the substantive power to define crimes and prescribe punishment. This aspect of the clause is jurisdictional, not personal, and cannot be bargained away.

The factual predicate needed to impose a particular sentence, a predicate which the state would otherwise be required to prove, can be waived by the defendant, just as he can waive the state's burden of proving his guilt.

But neither the defendant nor the state can create new sentencing alternatives, or extend the sentencing limits prescribed by the legislature, or confer upon the court the authority to do either of these things. The double jeopardy clause guarantees that this allocation of authority will not be evaded by doing indirectly what cannot be done directly.

The Florida legislature has manifested the intent that convictions not be entered when a separate sentence based on that conviction is not authorized, Moreover, in Florida, convictions have sentencing effects, even when they are not themselves the basis for a sentence. Accordingly, both convictions and sentences must be treated as punishments for double jeopardy purposes, and since the multiplicity is equally unauthorized, neither the illegality of multiple convictions nor the illegality of multiple sentences is waived by the entry of a guilty plea.

In this case, it is apparent from the record made at the time of the plea that the convictions and sentences for the two counts possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense are barred by the double jeopardy principles enunciated by this Court in Cleveland -V- State, 587 So.2d 1145(Fla. 1991).

Even if such a violation were waivable, in this case, it was not expressly and affirmatively waived. To the contrary, it is obvious from the record that the impermissibly cumulative character of these convictions and sentencee was not even noticed at the time of the plea. Frederick E. Melvin, agreed to the convictions and sentences, but never expressly waived the double jeopardy violtion. Accordingly, those convictions and sentences must be vacated.

ARGUMENT

I.

PETITIONER ALLEGES THAT HIS PLEA OF NO CONTEST WAS NOT ENTERED VOLUNTARILY AND WITH A FULL UNDERSTANDING OF THE CONSEQUENCES.

The United States Supreme Court recognized plea bargaining as an essential component of the criminal justice system. <u>Black-edge v. Allison</u>, 431 U.S. 63, 71 (1977); <u>Santobello v. New York</u>, **404** U.S. 257, 260 (1941). When the government and a defendant agree to negotiate a plea, both parties must comply with the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. Rule 11(e).

In the State of Florida, before the court may accept a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the trial judge must comply with Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure Rule 3.172 and the indicated subsections whichstates:

- (c) Except where a defendant is not present for a plea, pursuant to the provision of rule 3.180 (c). The trial Judge should, when determining voluntariness, place the defendant under oath, and shall address him personally to determine that he understand:
- (c) (i) The nature of the charge to which is offered, the mandatory minimum penalty by law, if any, and the maximum possible penalty provieded by law; and
- (c) (iv) That the defendant pleads guilty or nolo contendere without expressed reservation of the right to appeal all matters relating to the judgement, including the issue of guilty or innocence; and
- (c) (vii) The complete terms of the plea agreement, including specifically all ob-

-ligations defendant will incur as a result.

The three-core concern underlying Rule 11, Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, governing acceptance of guilty or nolo contendere plea, applicable to all states through the Fourteeth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. -V- Bell, 776 F.2d 965, rehearing denied, 782 F.2d 180, cert. denied, 106 S.Ct. 3272, 477 U.S. 904 (11th Cir. 1985). As outlined by the State of Florida. (1) The plea must be voluntary; (2) The defendant must understand the nature of the charge and the consequences of his plea; and (3) There must be a factal basis for the plea. William v. State, 316 So.2d 267 (Fla.1975); incorporated into Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.172, Id. at 343 So.2d 1247 (Fla.1977).

No plea of guilty or nolo contendere shall be accepted without first determining, in poen court, with means of recording the proceedings stenogra-phically, or by mechaniacl means, that the circumstances surrounding the plea reflect a full understanding of the significance of the plea and its voluntariness, and that there is a factual basis for the plea, guilty or nolo contendere, Fla. Rules. Crim. Proc. 3.170 (j) 3.172 (e), (f). Harden v. State, 453 So.2d 31 at 32-33 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), and Koenig v. State, 597 So.2d 256 (Fla. 1992).

The trial judge must advise defendant of the maximum possible penalty for the crime; otherwise, the plea is void. West's F.S.A. Rules of Crim. Proc., Rule 3.172 (c) (i). Gaza v. State, 519 So.2d 727 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); Blackshear v. State, 455 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); State v. Coban, 520 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1988); U.S. v. Stizer, 785 F.2d 1506 (11th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, Perna v. U.S., 107 S. Ct. 479 U.S. 823; Henderson v. Morgan, 426 U.S. 637 (1976);

Smith v. O'Grady , 312 U.S. 329 (1941); Gaddy v. Linahan, 780 F.2d 935 (11th Cir. 1986); LoConte v. Dugger, 847 F.2d 745 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, U.S. 109 S.Ct. 397 (1988); Gaddy, Supra, at 1786-87. Lott v. United States, 367 U.S 421 (1961); United States v. American Service Corp, 580 F.2d 823 (5th Cir.); cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1071 (1979). cf. Gaddy, supra, at 1789.

The trial judge must advise defendant of the possible minimum mandatory penalty, if applicable, in order that a guilty or nolo contendere plea may be intelligently and voluntarily entered. West's F.S.A. Rules of Crim. Proc., Rule 3.172 (c) (i). Perez v. State, 449 So. 2d 407 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Vann v. State, 366 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); Green v. State, 406 So.2d 1148 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), approved 421 So.2d 508 (Fla.1982); Garza v. State, 519 So.2d 727 (Fla. 2d DCA'1988).

The trial judge must advise defendant that without the expressed reseration of the right to appeal matters relating to the judgement. West's Rules of Crim. Proc., Rule 3.172 (c) (vii); West's F.S.A., sec. 924.06(3). Santos v. State, 380 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1980).

Failure to so advise porhibits defendant from rendering a truely voluntary and knowledgable waiver of his constitutional rights inherented in the plea arrangment, Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709(1969); Brady v. U.S., 397 U.S. 742, 755, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 1472, 25 L.Ed. 2d 747 (1970).

No plea offer or negotiation is binding until it is accepted by the trial judge, formally, after making all necessary inquiries, advisements and determinations required by law. Until that time, it may be withdrawn by either party without any necessary justification. West's F.S.A. Rules of Crim. Proc. Rule 3.172 (f). Howard v. State, 516 So.2d 31 at 32-33 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987);

Harden v. State, 453 So.2d 550 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

The court's failure to address any one of these three core concerns shall constitute an automatic reversal, Federal Rules of Crim. Proc. Rule 11, 18 U.S.C.A., U.S. v. Bell, 776 F.2d 965, rehearing denied 782 F.2d 180. cert. denied 106 S.Ct. 3272, 477 U.S. 904 (11th Cir.).

Point (I): In the case at bar nither the trial court, nor defense counsel, nor the state attorney, advised petitioner of the maximum possible sentence that he could be sentenced to for each offense, nor did they inform petitioner of the elements of the crimes with which he was charged, whather the facts of his case fits those elements, or whather the state had reasonable proof to obtain a conviction based on those elements at trial. By not doing these two things petitioner plea was not voluntary. See U.S. v. Bell, 776 F.2d 965; Henderson v. Morgan, 426 U.S. 637; Smith v. O'Grady, 312 U.S. 329, and Gaddy v. Linahan, 780 F.2d 935). See exhibit "C".

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