FILED OF 7

MAR 7 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

83013

CASE NO. -81,183

FREDERICK E. MELVIN,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

CONSUELO MAINGOT

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0897612 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- (A) The Defendant first argues that his plea was involuntarily and unknowingly entered because he was not told of the consequences of his plea and his counsel was ineffective for failing to so inform him. This contention is belied by the plea colloquy and the record.
- (B) The Defendant argues he should not have been convicted and sentenced for both use of a firearm in the commission of a felony and for other felonies which were enhanced because of the use of a firearm. He bases this argument is based upon double jeopardy principles. As a general rule, under federal law, double jeopardy claims are waived by the entry of a guilty plea to the charges. An exception lies where the constitutional infirmity is the State's lack of power to bring the charges at all.

Defendant's case falls under the general rule. No double jeopardy claim was implicated until he was convicted of both charges. Up until that time under a variety of scenarios he could have been convicted of the felonies and of possession of a firearm. As such it can not be said that the state was without power at all to bring the charges.

This Court has previously approved the federal rule. The decision below was based on both the federal principles and upon this court's dictum. On the contrary, the cases which purportedly conflict with the decision below are not so grounded. One case did not even involve the question of waiver. The second, relying on the first, essentially found there could be no waiver because of the adverse consequences which would flow from a waiver. The State submits that subsequent consequences are not a valid consideration in determining whether a waiver occurred. Rather the analysis should examine the acts of the defendant prior to the waiver.

One such factor which must be considered is that Defendant's plea was negotiated both as to conviction and sentence. By so pleading he avoided the possibility of two consecutive life sentences without possibility of parole. (Exh. A:21; Exh. B:23). It would now be unjust to allow him to renege on his bargain.

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal should be affirmed, and Defendant's convictions and sentences should be upheld. (Exh. 41).

(C) The State also respectfully submits that the Court's decision in <u>Cleveland</u> should be reexamined. The only test is identity of elements. As this Court has held in the past, the

homicide statute and the other felonies do not contain identical statutory elements. As such the State may properly convict and sentence Defendant for each offense. Thus regardless of whether Defendant waived the claim or not, his double jeopardy argument is without merit and his convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

Even if Defendant's claims are meritorious, he is not entitled to simply have the allegedly jeopardy-violative convictions and sentences vacated. The sentences and convictions were part of a comprehensive quid pro quo. The State is therefore entitled either to the benefit of its bargain or to have the entire agreement set aside, although the State at its discretion, may seek to enforce the agreement without the objectionable elements. If the Court finds for Defendant, upon remand the valid charges should be reinstated and the parties placed in the positions they occupied immediately prior to the entry of the plea.

ARGUMENT

THE DEFENDANT WAIVED HIS DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAIM AS TO BOTH CONVICTION AND SENTENCE BY KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERING INTO A COMPREHENSIVE NEGOTIATED PLEA AGREEMENT.

A. Defendant's plea was knowingly and voluntary upon the advice of effective counsel.

Initially, the Defendant contends that his plea was involuntary because he was not apprised of the consequences of the plea, there was no factual basis for the plea, and he did not know that he could be sentenced on each of the counts to which he pled. Separately he contends that this lack of knowledge was due to incompetent counsel. A review of the plea colloquy in this case refutes each of those claims, and the Defendant should not be afforded relief on this basis.

In <u>Hill v. Lockhart</u>, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985), the United States Supreme Court held that the two part <u>Strickland v. Washington</u> test applies to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel claims. This two part test requires that a defendant 1) show that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and 2) demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. <u>Strickland</u>

v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052 In analyzing such a claim, the fact that the defendant (1984).entered a plea is an important fact. Indeed, less than the exhaustive and plenary investigation that would accompany a trial is required to enter a plea. Lee v. Hopper, 499 F.2d 456 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 419 U.S. 1053, 42 L.Ed.2d 650, 95 S.Ct. 633 (1974).In addition, it has been held that "counsel owes a lesser duty to a client who pleads guilty than to one who decides to go to trial, and in the former case counsel need only provide his client with an understanding of the law in relation to the facts, so that the accused may make an informed and conscious choice between accepting the prosecution's offer and going to trial." Wofford v. Wainwright, 748 F.2d 1505, 1508 (11th Cir. 1984), citing Walker v. Caldwell, 476 F.2d 213, 218 (5th Cir. 1973). In addition, in order to obtain relief counsel must show that there is a reasonable probability that he would not have pled guilty but for counsel's error. Hill v. Lockhart, supra. Applying these standards to the case sub judice, it is apparent that relief must be denied.

On the basis of the Information alone, Defendant was apprised of the fact that he was being charged with two life felonies and two second degree felonies. (App. A, B). Defense Counsel, Mr. Singer, attested before the court that he had consulted with his client and communicated the plea to him, and the Defendant responded affirmatively when asked if, indeed the

terms of the plea had been so communicated to him by counsel. (Exh. C:30). The factual basis for the plea was stipulated to by counsel as stated in the Informations. Moreover, the Defendant has not demonstrated that he would have gone to trial, but for the alleged errors of his attorney. The plea colloguy clearly supports the trial court's finding that the Defendant's plea was voluntary and knowingly entered, and absent an abuse of discretion should not be disturbed on appeal.

B. Defendant has waived his double jeopardy claim.

Defendant asserts that under <u>Cleveland v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991), it was improper to convict and sentence him on the charge of unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense where he was also convicted of other offenses which were enhanced because of the use of a firearm. He further asserts that that claim was not waived when he pled guilty, without objection, to the charges he now complains of and agreed to the sentences which were imposed in order to avoid potential consecutive life sentences without possibility of parole. The Third District Court of Appeal rejected his contentions. (Exh. p. 41) That court was correct and its judgment should be affirmed.

¹ But see the State's argument "C.", below.

The question of whether the double jeopardy protection afforded under the U.S. Constitution² is waivable where the Defendant pleads guilty is controlled by <u>United States v. Broce</u>, 488 U.S. 563, 109 S.Ct. 757, 102 L.Ed.2d 927 (1989). <u>Broce</u> sets forth the general rule that a voluntary and counseled guilty plea waives all constitutional claims, including double jeopardy. <u>Broce</u>, 488 U.S., at 569. <u>Menna v. New York</u>, 423 U.S. 61, 96 S.Ct. 241, 46 L.Ed.2d 195 (1975), sets forth the narrow exception to the rule. The exception applies only where the constitutional infirmity lies in the State's power to bring any charge at all. Broce, 488 U.S., at 575.

In <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 483 So. 2d 420 (Fla. 1986), this Court ruled that there are circumstances where a jeopardy claim may be waived, citing <u>United States v. Pratt</u>, 657 F.2d 218 (8th Cir. 1981), and <u>United States v. Herzog</u>, 644 F.2d 713 (8th Cir. 1981), cert. den., 451 U.S. 1018, 101 S. Ct. 3008, 69 L.Ed.2d 390 (1981).

Florida's double jeopardy clause in Article I, Section 9 of the state constitution was intended to mirror the protection provided by the U.S. Constitution. <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 161, 164 (Fla. 1987), <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989).

Johnson pled guilty to a lesser offense and was convicted and sentenced accordingly. The trial court subsequently improperly vacated the judgment and reinstated the original charges, for which Johnson was tried and convicted.

The Court found that the double jeopardy claim had not been waived by the defendant's failure to raise the issue before his trial. Although Johnson did not involve the question of whether a guilty plea waives a double jeopardy claim, the Court did observe:

Both <u>Pratt</u> and <u>Herzog</u> involved guilty pleas to charges which were allegedly multiplications. Presaging <u>Broce</u>, the Eighth Circuit distinguished <u>Menna</u> in both cases and held that the claim was waived.

Significantly, the Menna exception does not appear to have been applied by the Supreme Court in any case where, as here, the allegedly jeopardy-violative charges were brought in the same proceeding. Although this factor is not per se dispositive of the issue, it highlights the reasons for the exception. In both Menna and Blackledge v. Perry, 417 U.S. 21, 94 S. Ct. 2098, 40 L.Ed.2d 628 (1974), the defendants had previously been convicted. Subsequent to their convictions, new charges, based upon the same offense were brought. In both cases the exception was applied because:

the defendant's right was "the right not to be haled into court at all upon the felony charge. The very initiation of proceedings against him . . . thus

We agree with the Court of Appeals of New York that the failure to raise the defense before the second trial is more equivocal than agreeing to plead guilty to the second charge, and conclude, as it did, that the failure to timely raise a double jeopardy claim does not, in and of itself, serve as a waiver of the claim. See, People v. Michael, 48 N.Y.2d 1, 394 N.E.2d 1134, 420 N.Y.S.2d 371.

Johnson, at 422-423 (emphasis supplied).

operated to deny him due process of law."

Broce, 488 U.S., at 574-575 (quoting <u>Blackledge</u>, 417 U.S., at 30-31).

Defendant cannot claim that he could not lawfully be charged as he was. Mahaun v. State, 377 So. 2d 1158 (Fla. 1979). Obviously, double jeopardy is not implicated until a defendant is convicted of at least one of the charges. Defendant's contention can only be that he ought not to have been convicted of both possession of a firearm in the course of committing a felony and of the same felony "enhanced" by the use of a firearm. Cleveland v. State, 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991).

Had Defendant not pled guilty and stood trial, the jury could properly have found him guilty of the lesser offense of attempted second degree murder without a firearm and of possession of a firearm while committing that attempted homicide in Case No. 89-46022. (App. A). Or the jury could have found that he was guilty of manslaughter without a firearm in Case No. 90-3133 and properly convicted him also of possession of the firearm during that homicide. (App. B). In neither case would the "double enhancement" which Cleveland proscribes have arisen.

The Third District's opinion in the case at bar was a logical extension of its previous holding in Guardado v. State,

562 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), rev. den., 576 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1990). Guardado, in turn was based soundly upon Johnson.

The cases which Defendant asserts conflict with Novaton v. State, 610 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), Kurtz v. State, 564 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), and Arnold v. State, 578 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), do not have similar pedigrees. In Kurtz, waiver was not even in issue. Kurtz pled nolo contendere, reserving the right to appeal the trial court's denial of his double jeopardy claim. On appeal the court declined to even address whether Kurtz' convictions violated the double jeopardy clause as a matter of constitutional law. Kurtz, at 520. It held that under Carawan and § 775.021(4), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988), the convictions were improper as a matter of statutory law.

The court in <u>Arnold</u>, in a rather murky opinion first observed -- apparently approving of the holding in <u>Guardado</u> -- that double jeopardy protections are waivable in some "circumstances". <u>Arnold</u>, at 516. It then concluded that the distinction between <u>Menna</u> and <u>Pratt</u> and <u>Herzog</u> was that "multiplicitousness" as a defense is waived by a plea. <u>Id.</u>, at 517. The court rejected the distinction, finding a "complicating factor" and citing <u>Kurtz</u>. <u>Id.</u> It quoted that portion of the <u>Kurtz</u> opinion which found that §775.021(4), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988) does not authorize additional convictions in cases where

additional punishments would be improper. The court pointed out that, as "an even stronger argument", a conviction without a sentence could be used on a future scoresheet as an additional or prior offense. Hence, the court concluded that Arnold did not waive the right to challenge his convictions or the sentences by entering a plea of *nolo contendere* without reserving the right to appeal. Id.

The rule set forth in the Fourth District's opinion seems to be that a waiver of double jeopardy rights is effective only when there are no adverse consequences which flow from the waiver. This amounts to holding that the rights may never be waived.

The State submits that the Fourth District's reasoning is faulty. Even setting aside the fact that it appears to be based upon a precedent in which the waiver was not an issue, it apparently ignores the essence of what a waiver is. Undoubtedly, finding a waiver in this, or any other case, will have adverse consequences. Waiver has been defined as:

The renunciation, repudiation, abandonment, or surrender of some claim, right, privilege, or of the opportunity to take advantage of some defect irregularity, or wrong.

Black's Law Dictionary 1580 (abr. 6th ed. 1990). Certainly the defendants in Broce could have suffered the same consequences as

those envisioned in <u>Arnold</u>. This consideration simply should not be a factor when determining whether a waiver has occurred.

It must be remembered that the waiver doctrine derives from the admissions necessarily made upon entry of a voluntary plea of guilty. Broce, 488 U.S., at 573-574. As such the relevant inquiry is not the consequences arising from the waiver but the acts from which the waiver arises.

Thus, the fact that this was a negotiated plea should be taken into account. Herzog took this factor into account:

Appellant had ample time prior to entering his pleas in which scrutinize closely the charges in the indictment and determine if they were subject to objection. He chose not to challenge the indictment, but rather to negotiate for the dismissal of numerous return counts for his in Appellants reasons for pleading guilty and nolo contendere to four counts of the indictment are as valid now as they were at the time the pleas were entered. indictment which to appellant pleaded has not changed with the passage of time.

To permit appellant to now raise his double jeopardy complaint would thwart the orderly and efficient administration of our criminal justice system . . .

Herzog, at 716. Also, see Pratt, at 221:

Menna's case was not complicated by the presence of additional charges which the state agreed to dismiss. And Menna did

not explicitly and voluntarily expose himself to the very event (here, consecutive terms of imprisonment) that he later claimed was a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause. Pratt by contrast . . . had no right to be surprised at the sentence that was imposed. He received the benefit of his bargain, dismissal of the other four counts.

Waiver of constitutional rights is not lightly to be presumed, . . . however, we believe that it would be unjust in the circumstances of this case for the defendant to be heard to say that his sentence was illegally imposed.

See, also, Quarterman v. State, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988)(plea bargain constitutes a valid reason for departure from guideline sentence; thus no grounds existed for withdrawal of plea);

Johnson v. State, 458 So. 2d 850, 851 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984)("Because Johnson was bound by her contract, we affirm the sentence.");

Jacobs v. State, 522 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)(denial of motion to correct allegedly illegal sentences affirmed where they were part of negotiated plea).

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